S273368

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

TRICOAST BUILDERS, INC.,

Plaintiff and Appellant,

v.

NATHANIEL FONNEGRA,

Defendant and Respondent.

On Review from the Court of Appeal, Second Appellate District, Division Two Case No. B303300

After an Appeal from the Superior Court of Los Angeles County Hon. Melvin D. Sandvig Case No. PC056615

OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

CONNETTE LAW OFFICE

Michael T. Connette [SBN 180609] 201 Santa Monica Boulevard Suite 300 Santa Monica, California 91401-2224 (424) 777-8800 mike@connettelaw.com

BENEDON & SERLIN, LLP

ISSUES PRESENTED

(1) When a party on appeal from a final judgment after a bench trial challenges the denial of relief from the waiver of the right to a jury trial under Code of Civil Procedure section 631, subdivision (g)¹, must that party demonstrate actual prejudice to obtain a reversal?

(2) In determining whether to grant a party relief from the waiver of the right to a jury trial under section 631, subdivision (g), must the trial court find prejudice to either the opposing party or the court in order to deny relief from the waiver?

INTRODUCTION

In this case, the defendant posted jury fees and requested a jury trial. The plaintiff did not post its jury fees, amounting to a waiver of its jury trial rights under section 631, subdivision (f)(5). The trial court scheduled a jury trial based on the defendant's request, and the parties prepared the case for a jury trial. On the morning of the scheduled jury trial, the defendant changed his mind and waived his jury trial right. Plaintiff requested relief from its jury trial waiver, offering to post fees that day. The trial court rejected that request. This was so even though the defendant made no showing of prejudice from proceeding with a

¹ Statutory references are to the Code of Civil Procedure.

jury trial, and the trial court did not suggest that it would be prejudiced from going forward with the scheduled jury trial. By contrast, plaintiff demonstrated that switching to a bench trial on the morning of the scheduled jury trial was unfair because it had prepared for a jury trial. The trial court nevertheless went ahead with a bench trial and found in favor of the defendant.

After entry of judgment and denial of plaintiff's motion for new trial, plaintiff appealed. The Second District, Division Two, in a divided opinion, affirmed the judgment, concluding the trial court had not abused its discretion by denying plaintiff's request for relief from its jury trial waiver. (*TriCoast Builders, Inc. v. Fonnegra* (2022) 74 Cal.App.5th 239 (*TriCoast*).) In so doing, the majority failed to follow this Court's authority protecting the constitutional right to a jury trial and upset settled law on both the standard of review for an appeal challenging the denial of relief from waiver and the scope of the trial court's discretion in evaluating the propriety of relief. The opinion cannot stand on either ground.

With respect to the standard of review, under this Court's authority, the erroneous denial of a jury trial is a miscarriage of justice that, in the absence of any gamesmanship, is prejudicial per se and requires reversal of a judgment. The Second District, Division Seven in *Mackovska v. Viewcrest Road Properties LLC* (2019) 40 Cal.App.5th 1 (*Mackovska*), based on this Court's authority, held that, when a trial court abuses its discretion in denying relief from a jury trial waiver, a litigant in an appeal from the judgment following the ensuing bench trial need not demonstrate actual prejudice to obtain a reversal. The *TriCoast* majority, however, relied on several errant cases and concluded the opposite, imposing an actual prejudice requirement and thereby creating a direct conflict in the law.

The *TriCoast* majority was wrong. It is out of step with this Court's authority, which holds the denial of a jury trial constitutes a miscarriage of justice and a showing of actual prejudice is not required in the absence of gamesmanship. Moreover, by requiring a showing of actual prejudice on appeal, the *TriCoast* majority perpetuated a dual-track standard of appellate review that will needlessly generate more writ petitions and simultaneously insulate erroneous decisions from appellate review. Although *Mackovska*, after reviewing the case law, served to clarify that actual prejudice is not a requirement in a judgment appeal, the *TriCoast* majority upset this clarification. Justice Ashmann-Gerst in dissent recognized the majority's disturbance of the law and the constitutional problems with an actual prejudice requirement. This Court, therefore, should protect the inviolate right to a jury trial by confirming the lack of an actual prejudice requirement.

As to the scope of the trial court's discretion in determining the propriety of granting relief from a jury trial waiver, the *TriCoast* majority also was wrong. Case law has long established

that a trial court abuses it discretion by denying relief from a jury trial waiver in the absence of prejudice to the other party or the court itself, and *Mackovska* reinforced this principle. Nevertheless, the *TriCoast* majority contradicted this wellestablished law in failing to analyze whether a grant of relief would prejudice either the other party or the court. For this reason too, this Court should protect the constitutional right to a jury trial by confirming that a trial court abuses its discretion in denying relief from a jury waiver in the absence of prejudice to the other party or the court.

In short, *Mackovska* clarified that no actual prejudice requirement exists for a litigant challenging the denial of relief from a jury trial waiver in a judgment appeal and applied settled authority requiring prejudice to the other party or the court before a trial court can exercise its discretion to deny relief. The *TriCoast* majority nevertheless created havoc in these areas of the law. To settle the law and protect the constitutional right to a jury trial, this Court should reverse the majority's decision and direct the Court of Appeal to send the matter back to the trial court for a jury trial.

FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL STATEMENT

Plaintiff and appellant TriCoast Builders, Inc. (TriCoast), a general building contractor, initiated this lawsuit against defendant and appellant Nathaniel Fonnegra, the owner of real property where TriCoast had performed work. (CT 22-28, 39-48.) A jury trial was scheduled to start on September 23, 2019, as reflected in the trial court's minutes. (CT 96.) On that morning, when the trial court called the matter for a jury trial, Fonnegra stated that he had decided "over the weekend" to waive his right to a jury trial. (*Ibid*; 2 RT 1.) TriCoast objected because its counsel had prepared for a jury trial and Fonnegra's decision to waive a jury trial the morning it was set to start was unfair. (2 RT 2.) TriCoast made an oral request pursuant to section 631, subdivision (g), to proceed by a jury trial and offered to post jury fees that day. (2 RT 1.)

Fonnegra, however, sought to have the case proceed with a bench trial on the ground that TriCoast had waived its right to a jury trial by failing to post jury fees within the timeframe specified by section 631, subdivision (d). (2 RT 2.) The trial court agreed with Fonnegra, rejected TriCoast's offer to post fees that day as untimely, and ruled the case would proceed by a bench trial. (*Ibid.*) The trial court stated: "When the fees haven't been paid, and you haven't paid them, the party that did pay them has waived the jury trial, so that's it." (*Ibid.*) Although TriCoast insisted it had a constitutional right to a jury trial, the trial court remarked TriCoast could seek immediate writ review of the ruling. (*Ibid.*) The trial court then denied TriCoast's oral request to proceed by a jury trial, "find[ing] that [TriCoast] not having paid jury fees, has waived trial by jury." (CT 96.) TriCoast did not seek writ review. After a bench trial, Fonnegra prevailed, and judgment was entered in his favor. (CT 112, 134-135, 138-139.)

TriCoast moved for a new trial based in part on the denial of a jury. (CT 149-150, 154-160.) In support, TriCoast's counsel submitted a declaration, averring that, "[d]uring four years of pretrial proceedings in this case, [Fonnegra] demanded a jury trial. [TriCoast] did not demand a jury trial or post jury fees. Nonetheless, [TriCoast] was required to prepare for a jury trial as a result of Fonnegra's demand. And, [TriCoast] expended considerable resources in doing so and tailored its opening statement, exhibits, witnesses, and presentation for a jury." (CT 161.) In fact, in the two years leading up to trial, "the [trial] court encouraged defendants to waive the jury," but "none were willing to do so." (*Ibid.*) Accordingly, when the trial court called the matter for a jury trial, TriCoast "placed its four sets of exhibit books, placed the projector for the jury to follow the exhibits, and reviewed voir dire and opening statement written for the jury." (*Ibid.*) Despite this showing, the trial court denied TriCoast's new trial motion. (CT 181-182.)

TriCoast appealed from the judgment. (CT 183.) TriCoast argued the trial court had abused its discretion by denying relief from the jury trial waiver pursuant to section 631, subdivision (g), and resolving the case through a bench trial. (AOB 10-12.) The Second Appellate District, Division Two, affirmed the judgment in a published and divided opinion. (*TriCoast, supra,*

74 Cal.App.5th 239.) The majority held that, because TriCoast had not sought writ review of the trial court's order denying relief, TriCoast was required, but failed, to demonstrate it suffered actual prejudice from the ensuing bench trial. (*Id.* at pp. 245-246.) The majority also determined that, because TriCoast's offer to post jury fees on the day of trial was untimely, the trial court did not abuse its discretion by denying relief from the jury trial waiver. (*Id.* at pp. 248-249.) This was so, according to the majority, even though the opposing party had suffered no prejudice, because prejudice to the opposing party is merely "one of several factors" the trial court can consider in exercising its discretion. (*Id.* at p. 250.)

Justice Ashmann-Gerst, in dissent, "disagree[d] with the majority's conclusion that 'TriCoast's failure to demonstrate prejudice from proceeding with a court trial after its request for relief from jury waiver was denied supports affirmance of the trial court's order.' [Citation.]" (*TriCoast, supra*, 74 Cal.App.5th at p. 253, fn. 3.) Justice Ashmann-Gerst also stated that, "[e]ven if TriCoast were required to demonstrate prejudice, the appellate record confirms that it did" because its counsel "expended considerable resources" preparing for a jury trial and "tailored its opening statement, exhibits, witnesses, and presentation for a jury." (*Id.* at p. 254, fn. 4.) In addition, according to Justice Ashmann-Gerst, Fonnegra did not show he or the court would suffer prejudice from affording TriCoast relief from its jury trial

waiver, demonstrating an abuse of discretion by the trial court in denying such relief. (*Id.* at p. 254.)

TriCoast filed a petition for review of the Court of Appeal's opinion, which this Court granted on April 27, 2022.

LEGAL DISCUSSION

I. AN APPELLANT CHALLENGING THE DENIAL OF RELIEF FROM A JURY TRIAL WAIVER NEED NOT DEMONSTRATE ACTUAL PREJUDICE FROM A BENCH TRIAL TO REVERSE THE JUDGMENT.

A. Section 631, Subdivision (g), Governs Relief
 From Jury Trial Waivers, and Any Doubt Over
 Granting Relief Must Be Resolved in Favor of
 Protecting the Inviolate Right to a Jury Trial.

The California Constitution accords every civil litigant the right to a trial by jury. (Cal. Const. art. I, § 16.) Section 631, subdivision (a), sets forth the Legislature's command that the right to a jury trial shall be "preserved to the parties inviolate." In that regard, waiver of the right to jury trial in civil cases can occur only through one of six enumerated ways (§ 631, subd. (f)), including, as relevant, by failing to timely post jury fees as specified by the statute (*id.* at subds. (b), (c) & (f)(5)). (*Grafton Partners v. Superior Court* (2005) 36 Cal.4th 944, 956

(*Grafton Partners*) ["[W]aiver of the right to jury trial in a civil cause is permitted only as prescribed by statute"].)

Section 631, subdivision (g), authorizes the trial court to relieve a party from a jury trial waiver "in its discretion upon just terms." California's courts for decades have held that properly safeguarding the constitutional guarantee of a jury trial requires courts to resolve doubts concerning the propriety of granting relief in favor of the right to a jury. As this Court long ago explained, doubts in construing section 631 "should be resolved in favor of according to a litigant a jury trial." (Loranger v. Nadeau (1932) 215 Cal. 362, 368, overruled on other grounds in *Reich v*. Purcell (1967) 67 Cal.2d 551, 555.) This Court later recognized "the right to trial by jury is so important that it must be 'zealously guarded' in the face of a claimed waiver" such that section 631, subdivision (g), consistently has been interpreted to "resolve doubts in interpreting the waiver provisions . . . in favor of a litigant's right to jury trial." (Grafton Partners, supra, 36 Cal.4th at p. 956.)²

² California's appellate courts consistently have followed this principle. (See, e.g., *Rodriguez v. Superior Court* (2009) 176 Cal.App.4th 1461, 1467; *Hernandez v. Wilson* (1961) 193 Cal.App.2d 615, 619; *Cowlin v. Pringle* (1941) 46 Cal.App.2d 472, 476 (*Cowlin*).)

 B. The Erroneous Denial of a Jury Trial Results in a Miscarriage of Justice That Appellate Courts Must Correct, Whether Through Writ Relief or on a Judgment Appeal.

Along with the long-standing principle for resolving doubts in favor of granting relief from a jury trial waiver, this Court has held "'[t]he denial of a trial by jury to one constitutionally entitled thereto constitutes a miscarriage of justice and *requires a reversal* of the judgment.' [Citation.]" (*People v. One 1941 Chevrolet Coupe* (1951) 37 Cal.2d 283, 300 (*Chevrolet Coupe*), italics added.) In other words, the erroneous denial of a jury trial is per se reversible.

Appellate courts have applied this rule in the context of a litigant improperly denied a jury in the first instance. (E.g., *Union Oil Co. of California v. Hane* (1938) 27 Cal.App.2d 106, 110 ["denial of the right to trial by jury to a party entitled thereto is a miscarriage of justice" and "requires a reversal of the judgment of the trial court"].) They have also applied the rule in the context of a party wrongly denied relief after a jury trial waiver. (E.g., *Cowlin, supra*, 46 Cal.App.2d at pp. 476-477 ["Where as here the right to trial by jury is denied to one justly entitled thereto such denial amounts to a miscarriage of justice and a reversal of the judgment is required"].) Although the resulting miscarriage of justice from the denial of a jury trial must be remedied on appeal, courts also have explained that an extraordinary writ sometimes can provide a more optimal way to correct the error. Thus, "[a writ] is a proper remedy [in certain circumstances] to test a litigant's right to a jury trial. [Citations.] While the illegal denial of a jury would constitute cause to reverse any judgment . . . it would be inefficient and, indeed, unconscionable to refuse to ascertain [a party's] right to a jury trial [through a pre-trial writ proceeding]." (*Turlock Golf & Country Club v. Superior Court* (1966) 240 Cal.App.2d 693, 695.)

The pursuit of writ relief, however, is permissive and not required. In *Shaw v. Superior Court* (2017) 2 Cal.5th 983, 991, this Court acknowledged that "California appellate decisions have uniformly *permitted* a trial court denial of a request for jury trial to be reviewed prior to trial by a petition for writ of mandate or prohibition." (Italics added.) As this Court recognized, obtaining reversal of the judgment after a bench trial "would be inefficient and time consuming.' [Citations.]" (*Ibid.*, fn. omitted.) Accordingly, California courts have long held that a party can challenge the denial of relief from a jury waiver through an appeal from the judgment or an extraordinary writ before trial. (See, e.g., *Monster, LLC v. Superior Court* (2017) 12 Cal.App.5th 1214, 1224 (*Monster*) ["[A]lthough the denial of a jury trial is 'reviewable on appeal from the judgment,' review by way of extraordinary writ is 'normally . . . the better practice' so as to avoid 'time needlessly expended in a court trial'"]; *Van de Kamp* v. Bank of America (1988) 204 Cal.App.3d 819, 862 (*Van de Kamp*) [same]; *Selby Constructors v. McCarthy* (1979) 91 Cal.App.3d 517, 522-523 (*Selby*) [same].)

C. A Narrow Exception to the Rule of Automatic Reversal Exists When a Party's Claim of Error Reveals Undue Gamesmanship.

Notwithstanding the importance of granting relief from a jury trial waiver, and the right to seek review by either writ or appeal, this Court has imposed a narrow limitation on these principles. In that regard, a litigant cannot challenge the denial of a jury trial for the first time on appeal after failing to request a jury and, without objection, proceeding with a bench trial. For example, in *Frazure v. Fitzpatrick* (1943) 21 Cal.2d 851, 860-861 (*Frazure*), this Court rejected a challenge to the denial of a jury trial because, after the trial "court announced that it was ready to receive evidence on the counterclaim[,] [a]ppellant's attorney then proceeded without objection to put on his evidence" and "[n]o demand was made for a jury with respect thereto"

Three decades later, in *Taylor v. Union Pac. R. Corp.* (1976) 16 Cal.3d 893 (*Taylor*), this Court expanded on the effect of a litigant's failure to request a jury or otherwise object to a bench trial. This Court acknowledged the "general rule" that relief from

waiver is "in the discretion of the trial court" but rejected a claim of error because, in the midst of a jury trial, plaintiffs notified the clerk of their desire to waive their jury right and then tried the remainder of the case to the court, only later arguing on appeal that the denial of a jury trial was improper. (*Id.* at pp. 895, 898, 900-901.) "[A] party cannot without objection try his case before a court without a jury, lose it and then complain that it was not tried by jury. [Citation.]' [Citations.]" (*Id.* at p. 900.) Thus, "[a]s stated in [*Tyler v. Norton* (1973) 34 Cal.App.3d 717, 722 (*Tyler*)], wherein defendants proceeded to try the case before a judge without objecting to the absence of a jury, 'Defendants cannot play "Heads I win, Tails you lose" with the trial court.' [Citation.]"³ (*Ibid.*) Litigants, therefore, cannot remain silent and seek relief from a jury trial waiver for the first time on appeal after trying their case to the court without success.

This Court similarly ruled in *Gonzales v. Nork* (1978) 20 Cal.3d 500 (*Gonzales*). There, defendant waived his right to a jury trial and subsequently commenced trial of his special defenses to the court. The next morning, defendant moved for relief from the jury waiver, which the trial court denied. This Court observed that "circumstances had changed" by the time defendant moved for relief because "[c]ounsel had argued the

³ For ease of reference, this brief will refer to this excerpt from *Tyler*, *supra*, 34 Cal.App.3d at page 772 as the coin-tossing metaphor.

special defense issues to the judge, and had observed his reactions to the argument." (*Id.* at p. 508.) Accordingly, defendant "failed to excuse his delay in seeking relief from jury waiver until after argument on the special defenses and failed, likewise, to demonstrate prejudice arising from the denial of his request." (*Id.* at p. 509.) Thus, this Court recognized that, when a party remains silent and delays the request for a jury until after the trial has commenced, a requirement arises to show actual prejudice on appeal.

In line with this Court's rulings, appellate courts repeatedly have made deterrence of improper gamesmanship a focal point in evaluating claims of error regarding the denial of relief from a jury trial waiver. Initially, in *Byram v. Superior* Court (1977) 74 Cal.App.3d 648, 653 (Byram), the appellate court found error in the denial of relief from a jury trial waiver. Whereas the facts in *Taylor* and *Gonzales* indicated gamesmanship, the *Byram* court noted the inadvertent nature of the waiver and the appellant's prompt request for relief, absent any gamesmanship. (*Ibid.*) Byram then found an abuse of discretion in the denial of relief because the appellant "took prompt action" upon learning of the waiver, the opposing parties "did not establish that any prejudice would result from allowing a jury trial, and the court did not base its decision upon necessities for the smooth functioning of the proceedings before it" (*Id.* at p. 654.)

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