S273368

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

TRICOAST BUILDERS, INC.

Plaintiff and Appellant,

v.

NATHANIEL FONNEGRA.

Defendant and Respondent.

On review from the Court of Appeal,
Second Appellate District, Division Two
Case No. B303300

Appeal from the Superior Court, Los Angeles County,
Hon. Melvin D. Sandvig
Case No. PC056615

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

Eric Bensamochan, Esq. State Bar No. 255482 9025 Wilshire Blvd. Ste. 215 Beverly Hills, CA 90211 Phone: 818-574-5740 E-mail: eric@eblawfirm.us Attorney for Respondent

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

before trial was scheduled to begin. *Boal*, 165 Cal.App.3d at 809, fn 1.

With respect to *Mackovska*, the only decision to specifically address the *Byram*, *Gann and McIntosh* standard, the TriCoast court correctly determined that that decision's rejection of this standard was erroneous and particularly inapplicable to an intentional jury waiver and belated request for relief. Indeed, each of the reasons presented by the court in *Mackovska* are flawed or inapplicable in a case such as the present one.

The court in *Mackovska* first dismissed the *Byram*, *Gann* and *McIntosh* decisions as mere dicta. However, this was inaccurate, as the *McIntosh* decision relied in part on the party's failure to seek a writ and the corresponding lack of a showing of actual prejudice to support the conclusion that the trial court did not abuse its discretion. *McIntosh*, 151 Cal.App.3d at 363-364.

The *Mackovska* decision then disagreed with the *Byram*, *Gann* and *McIntosh* line of cases based on two "presumptions" the court found to be based on a purported misapplication of prior law. *Mackovska*, 40 Cal.App.5th at 14. But the *Mackovska* court's reasoning as to each of these purportedly "faulty" presumptions is itself flawed.

First, the *Mackovska* court disagreed with the premise that courts may assume a party had the benefit of a fair and impartial court trial, because it was purportedly based on cases tried to a jury instead of the court. *Id.* But this statement ignores the intermediate courts' conclusions that such an assumption was appropriate. The *McIntosh* decision relied on *Glogau v. Hagan*

(1951) 107 Cal.App.2d 313, 318-319, which involved a court trial after a jury trial was denied due to waiver. *Glogau* in turn cited Harmon v. Hopkins (1931) 116 Cal.App. 184, which was likewise a court trial following a denial of jury trial due to waiver. The *Mackovska* court appears to have then erroneously found that the Harmon decision was in turn based on Doll v. Anderson (1865) 27 Cal. 248. Mackovska, 40 Cal.App.5th at 14. But the Harmon court cited *Doll* for the proposition that "[i]t is probably true that the court had the right, notwithstanding such waiver, to submit the case to trial by jury, if he had chosen to do so." Harmon, 116 Cal.App. at 188. The opinion does not cite *Doll* for the proposition, set forth later in that section, that "[p]rejudice will not be presumed as a consequence of the issues of fact in a case being tried by the court instead of the jury. On the contrary, the presumption is that the appellants have enjoyed the benefit of a fair and impartial trial, according to the usual modes of procedure under the Constitution and laws of this state."

Moreover, this proposition has been agreed with and followed by not just *Byram*, *Gann* and *McIntosh*, but numerous other courts over the past several decades, confirming that it is far from a negligent misreading of old cases by a handful of courts. *See*, *e.g.*, *Holbrook & Tarr v. Thomson* (1956) 146 Cal.App.2d 800; *Still v. Plaza Marina Commercial Corp.* (1971) 21 Cal.App.3d 378, 388; *Sidney v. Rotblatt* (1956) 142 Cal.App.2d 453, 456.

The second "faulty presumption" cited by *Mackovska* is that, if a showing of actual prejudice is not required when a party

decides to await the court trial's verdict before deciding to appeal, parties will play "Heads I win, Tails you lose." The Mackovska court disregarded such concerns, finding that as long as the waiving party sought relief before the trial court, "the concerns expressed by the court in Tyler do not exist." Mackovska, 40 Cal.App.5th at 15. But this ignores the specific gamesmanship implicitly recognized in Byram, Gann and McIntosh – the unfair advantage, and corresponding harm to the court and opposing party, of electing not to proceed via writ and instead waiting to see the outcome of the court trial before appealing, discussed above. The same calculation and unfair advantage that the *Mackovska* court decried as "improper" where a party proceeds without objection at all is also found where a party who, having their objection overruled, decides to proceed with trial rather than seek immediate relief. The game is just played one step later in the process.

Second, the *Mackovska* court found this presumption was inapplicable in the specific situation found in that case, i.e., where the party makes a "*timely* request for relief from a jury waiver and neither the other party nor the court would suffer prejudice." *Id.* (emphasis added). In *Mackovska*, the request for relief was made only a little over a month after the waiver occurred, and more than two months before trial. *Id.* at 6-8. By contrast where – as here – a party makes such a request long after the waiver occurred and on the eve of trial, the *Mackovska* court's presumption that the moving party was acting diligently and not "playing games" no longer holds true.

The *Mackovska* decision was also flawed in that it relied on several "more recent cases" that purportedly expressed concern regarding the Byram, Gann and McIntosh cases and affirmed that no showing of prejudice was necessary on appeal. Mackovska, 40 Cal. App. 5th at 17. But the cases cited by the court do not actually challenge the *Byram*, *Gann* and *McIntosh* cases. Indeed, Brown v. Mortensen, 30 Cal.App.5th 931 did not involve a motion for relief from a jury waiver at all. Rincon EV Realty LLC v. CP III Rincon Towers, Inc. (2017) 8 Cal. App. 5th 1, 19 acknowledged the *Byram* and *McIntosh* cases *without* expressing concern about their conclusions, and instead found them inapplicable precisely because it found a difference between the denial of a motion for relief from waiver and the denial of a right to a jury trial in the first instance (as was the case in *Rincon*), in sharp contrast to *Mackovska's* conclusion that the two are indistinguishable. And Valley Crest Landscape Development, Inc. v. Mission Pools of Escondido, Inc. (2015) 238 Cal. App. 4th 468, 493 involved a determination that there was no waiver at all, without discussion of Byram, Gann or McIntosh.

C. *Mackovska* Permits Parties To Play Games With Jury Waivers Without Consequence

TriCoast contends that the *TriCoast* decision must be reversed because it "muddl[es] the law in numerous ways." Opening Brief at 37. However, each of the purported concerns presented by TriCoast are without merit.

TriCoast's first contention is that the *TriCoast* decision incorrectly identifies writ petitions as the "exclusive" remedy for denial of a motion for relief from jury waiver. Opening Brief at 37-38. But the *TriCoast* decision plainly does not conclude that writs are the exclusive remedy for denials of motions for relief from jury waiver. Were that true, the court would have denied TriCoast's appeal on procedural grounds and moved on. Instead, the decision concluded, consistent with prior opinions, that a writ was the better or "appropriate" vehicle for avoiding the gamesmanship and unfair prejudice to the court and opposing party resulting from a party's decision to wait to decide whether to appeal until after the court trial's verdict is known. Neither *TriCoast* nor *Byram*, *McIntosh* nor *Gann* held that a party was prohibited by law from seeking appellate review, only that the decision to wait to do so holds reasonable consequences.

TriCoast's second contention, that the *Mackovska* court did not conflate denial of a jury in the first instance with denial of a motion for relief after a knowing jury waiver (i.e., a party simply changing its mind for tactical reasons), is also wrong. The *Mackovska* decision states that its conclusion that the erroneous denial of a motion for relief is "reversible per se" – i.e., that no showing of actual prejudice should be required on appeal – was in turn based on the court's conclusion that there should be no distinction between the denial of a jury in the first instance and the denial of a motion for relief after a waiver occurs. *Mackovska*, 40 Cal.App.5th at 16. As explained above, that failure to distinguish between the two situations is itself incorrect, as one

involves a Constitutional right, whereas the other is both permissive and permitted only with the trial court's discretion.

Third, TriCoast complains that, by requiring a showing of actual prejudice, the *TriCoast* decision "renders appellate review from a final judgment virtually useless." Opening Brief at 41. Not so, as the Byram, McIntosh and Gann line of cases only seek to discourage gamesmanship by asking that a party **seek** writ relief, rather than play the game of waiting to see if the trial court turns out to their liking. If writ relief is denied because the appellate court prefers to wait until after trial, the policy of discouraging gamesmanship would still be upheld, and the appellant will have met its obligation to at least try to obtain provisional relief and provide the courts the opportunity to avoid duplicate trials. Moreover, this argument once again conflates a party's Constitutional right to a jury in the first instance with a party's more limited right to seek relief from the trial court if the party later changes its mind – a right which exists only with and to the extent of a trial court's discretion.

Requiring a party who engages in gamesmanship – first by intentionally waiving a jury and then reversing that decision, and second by declining to seek writ relief and instead waiting to see if the court trial verdict is unfavorable – to bear the burden on appeal of showing actual prejudice is "reasonable" and consistent with the Code of Civil Procedure and prior precedent. Removing that rule will only encourage further gamesmanship and create unnecessary burden on courts and parties of repeated trials.

D. An Intentional Waiver For Failure To Pay Jury Fees Is Different From An Inadvertent Waiver

TriCoast's argument also glosses over the policy and statutory reasons why a party who intentionally avoids posting jury fees should be held to a higher standard than one who inadvertently waives a jury and promptly seeks to correct that error.

Prior to 2012, a party seeking a jury only had to make a refundable "deposit" of the initial jury fee 25 days before the initial trial date. As explained by one court, "[t]he only object for the requirement in civil cases that the first day's jury fees must be deposited in advance of the trial date would seem to be that of a reasonable precaution to prevent the jurors from being defrauded by unscrupulous parties. In other words, to insure provision being made by the litigants in civil cases for the jury's compensation. Also, possibly to prevent a demand for a jury being used as a pretext to obtain continuances and thus trifle with justice." *Cowlin v. Pringle* (1941) 46 Cal.App.2d 472, 475-476.

That changed, however, with the 2012 amendment to Code of Civ. Proc. § 631, which now requires a party, with limited exceptions not applicable here, to deposit nonrefundable jury fees on or before the initial case management conference. Code Civ. Proc., § 631(b) & (c).

The legislative purpose of this amendment and the requirement for nonrefundable jury fees to be posted at the beginning of litigation was to raise "continued revenue ... for trial courts." *See* Senate Floor Analyses, Sen. Bill No. 1021 (June 27,

2012) pp. 1-2; *accord* Assembly Floor Analysis, Sen. Bill No. 1021 (June 25, 2012) p. 1; bill analyses available online at: https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/billAnalysisClient.xhtml?billid=201120120SB1021.

Accordingly, the public interest and the interests of the courts – specifically, the trial-court funding contemplated by the Legislature – requires the diligent enforcement of the timely posting of jury fees at the outset of the case. If parties are permitted to avoid payment of these early fees with no consequence, safe in the knowledge that they can always obtain relief from the trial court if it later becomes clear a trial will be necessary and the other party will not be paying for the jury, then the purpose of the statute is undermined and the courts will inevitably suffer the consequences.

E. The Non-Moving Party Should Not Bear The Burden On Motions For Relief From Voluntary Jury Waivers

TriCoast finally contends that any motion for relief from a jury waiver should in effect be automatically granted, unless the non-moving party can prove prejudice. This shifting of burdens is unwarranted and unfair, particularly where – as here – the motion for relief is made orally, without prior notice, on the

25

² This Court has previously held that a request for judicial notice of legislative history materials generally available from published sources is "unnecessary." *Sharon S. v. Superior Court* (2003) 31 Cal.4th 417, 440, fn. 18, *citing Quelimane Co. v. Stewart Title Guaranty Co.* (1988) 19 Cal4th 26, 46, fn. 9.

morning of trial, and where the moving party itself demonstrated no prejudice.³

As discussed above, once a party has voluntarily waived its right to a jury, California Code of Civ. Proc. § 631(g) is unequivocal that the party has no "right" to reverse that decision. Instead, a trial court "may" permit a jury trial despite a prior waiver "in its discretion upon just terms." *Id.* The statute does not require a showing of prejudice, nor does it reverse the usual standard of placing the burden upon the moving party. Moreover, prejudice is just one of many factors that may be evaluated in determining whether to exercise discretion. *Gann*, 231 Cal.App.3d at 1704; *March*, 66 Cal.App.3d at 480 ("In exercising its discretion, a court is entitled to consider many factors, including the possibility of delay in rescheduling the trial for a jury, lack of funds, timeliness of request and prejudice to all the litigants.")

TriCoast's position would read entirely new standards and language into the statute, is contrary to the above authority, and

The record does not show that the lack of a jury trial itself in any way prejudiced TriCoast. Moreover, TriCoast's arguments concerning purported prejudice were all presented in a declaration submitted *after* trial. *Id*. At the time TriCoast made its motion for relief to the trial court, it instead focused on whether it had a Constitutional right to insist upon a jury trial, even though it had earlier waived that right. 2 RT 2.

³ As is clear from the record, TriCoast's only real complaint was that it was required to spend resources preparing for a jury trial that it never wanted. *See, e.g.,* CT 161 (citing resources expended even though TriCoast "did not demand a jury trial or post jury fees" because Fonnegra was "unwilling" to waive the jury earlier).

is unsupported by the cases cited in the Opening Brief. TriCoast's reliance on *Tesoro del Valle* is inapposite, as notably, the trial court in that case exercised its discretion to allow a jury trial, and thus the court of appeal was never asked to determine whether denial of such a motion was warranted without a showing of prejudice. Moreover, that case involved an inadvertent waiver, rather than an intentional waiver which a party later sought to change for purely tactical reasons.

Similarly, TriCoast's citation to *Cowlin* is inapposite under today's statutory scheme. *Cowlin*'s decision was based in part on the court's conclusion that the failure to post jury fees was not even a waiver of jury under the statute as it existed at that time, both because such fees were already posted by an opposing party and because the "only object" of such a requirement was "to insure provision being made by the litigants in civil cases for the jury's compensation" and "possibly to prevent a demand for a jury being used as a pretext to obtain continuances." *Id.* at 475-76. Because those factors did not appear to have been present, the court concluded that the claim that jury was waived "is without merit." *Id.* at 475.

The other cases cited by TriCoast similarly are inapplicable to the exercise of the trial court's discretion where there was a knowing waiver. For example, TriCoast cites both *Johnson-Stovall v. Superior Court* (1993) 17 Cal.App.4th 808, 811 and *Wharton v. Superior Court* (1991) 231 Cal.App.3d 100, 104, but both held that a trial court abuses its discretion where relief is denied from an *inadvertent* waiver. *See Id*.

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